# Alignment of Canada's COVID-19 policy response with barriers and facilitators for coping reported by caregivers of children and youth with developmental disabilities, delays and disorders

Thesis by: Anna Katalifos

Anna Katalifos
Integrated Program in Neuroscience
Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery
McGill University, Montreal
September 2023

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

© Anna Katalifos, 2023



### **Table of Contents**

1.	Abstracts	3
	1.1. Abstract (English)	3
	1.2. Abstract (French)	5
2.	Acknowledgments	7
<i>3</i> .	Contribution to original knowledge	8
4.	Contribution of authors	9
<i>5</i> .	List of Tables and Figures	10
<b>6.</b>	Introduction	11
<i>7</i> .	Comprehensive review of relevant literature	13
	7.1. Rights-based approaches in policymaking for developmental delays, disorders, and disabilities	13
	7.2. Children with developmental delays, disorders, and disabilities and vulnerability in pul health emergencies	
	7.3. Impact of developmental delays, disorders, and disabilities on families	15
	7.4. Mental health impacts	16
	7.5. The COVID-19 pandemic and developmental delays, disorders, and disabilities	17
	7.6. The WHO Global Report Survey on Developmental Delays, Disorders, and Disabilities	18
	7.7. Study Objectives	20
8.	Methods and Materials	21
	8.1. Ethics approval	21
	8.2. Data validation	22
	8.3. Data analysis	
9.	Results	24
	9.1. Participant characteristics	24
	9.2. Thematic analysis	27
	9.2.1. Caregiver-identified barriers to coping with the pandemic	
	9.3. Caregiver perspectives and alignment with policies	38
10.	Comprehensive discussion of findings	40
	10.1. Limitations and future directions	43
11.	Conclusion and summary	45
12	Pafavancas	16

#### 1. Abstracts

#### 1.1. Abstract (English)

The UNICEF-World Health Organization Global Report on Developmental Delays, Disorders, and Disabilities (Gonzalez et al., 2021) is an ongoing initiative with the aim of increasing awareness, compiling data, proving guidance for policy and programming, and engaging international-level partners on understanding and improving the conditions of children and youth with disabilities around the globe. Data from its caregiver survey assessing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic showed that half of youths with developmental delays, disorders, and disabilities (DDDs) and their caregivers struggled to cope during the pandemic, with a significant portion reporting a lack of supports and difficulty managing the worsening of the child's symptoms in isolation. Governments around the world created emergency policies and services supporting vulnerable groups. However, little is known about the alignment between COVID-19 policies for persons with disabilities and their lived experiences. Contextualizing caregivers' experiences can inform the development of tailored public supports for these families as we emerge from the pandemic.

We sought to contextualize experiences of youth with DDDs and their caregivers during the pandemic in relation to Canadian COVID-19 policies for persons with disabilities. Online survey data were collected from June to July 2020, leading to a convenience sample of caregivers of youth with DDDs across Canada. Data for this project were responses to two open-ended questions: a) "Write down anything that has made it hard to keep safe and cope during the pandemic. Think about yourself and everyone in your home when answering." and b) "Write down anything that has made it easier to keep safe and cope during the pandemic. Think about yourself and everyone in your home when answering". We conducted a thematic analysis of responses using inductive coding on NVivo software. Overarching codes derived from the dataset were mapped onto a previous analysis of provincial policies published during the pandemic (Shikako et al., 2023). Parallels with policies supported the exploration of families' and youths' experiences during that period.

Five hundred and seventy-six (N=576) participants answered open-ended questions. Barriers to coping at the individual level were family mental health complications, concerns about regression of the child's condition, along with challenges involving the child's online schooling, insufficient play spaces, and managing physical health in quarantine. Environmental barriers

included the worsening of families' finances, loss of public services, and experiencing stigma. In contrast, caregivers reported several facilitators to coping, including media entertainment, time spent with family, outdoor spaces, and their child's resilience. Other environmental facilitators were receiving community support, information from government, and access to telehealth services. Few COVID-19 policies aligned practical services to caregiver-identified barriers. Facilitators aligned with pre-existing policies (e.g., leisure access and physical activities) but some COVID-19 restrictions were deterrents to accessing these facilitators during the pandemic.

Prioritizing needs of families of youths with DDDs during a public health emergency can significantly impact their experiences and mental health. Increasing financial benefits and emergency physical and mental supports for these families, offering telehealth services, and creating inclusive public spaces for play are priority areas exiting the pandemic.

#### 1.2. Abstract (French)

Le UNICEF-World Health Organization Global Report on Developmental Delays, Disorders, and Disabilities (Gonzalez et al., 2021) est une initiative dont l'objectif est d'accroître la sensibilisation, de compiler des données, de fournir des conseils sur le renforcement des systèmes de santé et d'engager des partenaires au niveau international. Les données de cette enquête ont montré que la moitié des jeunes ayant une condition neurodéveloppementale (CND) et leurs soignants ont éprouvé des difficultés à faire face à la pandémie COVID-19, référant à un manque de soutien et de difficultés à gérer l'aggravation des symptômes de l'enfant dans l'isolement. Les gouvernements ont mis en place des services pour soutenir les groupes vulnérables. Cependant, l'alignement entre les politiques COVID-19 pour les personnes ayant un CND et leurs expériences est peu recherché. La mise en contexte des vécus des soignants peut favoriser le développement d'aides publiques adaptées à ces familles.

Nous avons cherché à contextualiser les expériences des jeunes ayant un CND et de leurs soignants pendant la pandémie par rapport aux politiques canadiennes COVID-19 pour les personnes ayant un handicap. Les données du sondage en ligne ont été recueillies de juin à juillet 2020, ce qui a permis de constituer un échantillon de commodité de soignants de jeunes atteints de CND au Canada. Les données de ce projet comprennent des réponses à deux questions ouvertes: a) "Durant la pandémie, écrivez tout ce qui a fait obstacle à votre capacité à rester en sécurité et à vous adapter. Lorsque vous répondez, pensez à vous et toutes les personnes qui demeurent avec vous." et b) "Durant la pandémie, écrivez tout ce qui a facilité votre capacité à rester en sécurité et à vous adapter. Lorsque vous répondez, pensez à vous et toutes les personnes qui demeurent avec vous." Nous avons procédé à une analyse thématique des réponses à l'aide d'un codage inductif sur le logiciel NVivo. Les codes principaux dérivés de l'ensemble des données ont été mis en correspondance avec une analyse antérieure des politiques provinciales publiées pendant la pandémie (Shikako et al., 2023). Les parallèles avec les politiques ont soutenu l'exploration des expériences des familles et des jeunes pendant cette période.

Cinq cent soixante-seize (N=576) participants ont répondu à des questions ouvertes. Les obstacles à l'adaptation au niveau individuel étaient les complications familiales en matière de santé mentale, les craintes de régression de l'état de l'enfant, ainsi que les difficultés liées à la scolarisation en ligne de l'enfant, à l'insuffisance des espaces de jeu et à la gestion de la santé physique en quarantaine. Les obstacles environnementaux comprenaient l'aggravation de la

situation financière des familles, la perte de services publics et la stigmatisation. En revanche, les soignants ont référé à plusieurs facteurs facilitant l'adaptation, notamment les divertissements médiatiques, le temps passé en famille, les espaces extérieurs et la résilience de leur enfant. D'autres facilitateurs environnementaux sont le soutien de la communauté, les informations fournies par le gouvernement et l'accès aux services de télésanté. Peu de politiques COVID-19 ont aligné les services pratiques avec les obstacles identifiés par les aidants. Les facilitateurs s'alignent avec les politiques préexistantes (par exemple, l'accès aux loisirs et les activités physiques), mais certaines restrictions du COVID-19 ont dissuadé d'accèder à ces facilitateurs pendant la pandémie.

Accorder la priorité aux besoins des familles de jeunes atteints de CND lors d'une urgence de santé publique peut avoir un impact significatif sur leurs expériences et leur santé mentale. L'augmentation des prestations financières et des aides physiques et mentales d'urgence pour ces familles, l'offre de services de télésanté et la création d'espaces publics inclusifs pour le jeu sont des domaines prioritaires à la sortie de la pandémie.

#### 2. Acknowledgments

I am immensely grateful to my thesis supervisors, Dr. Mayada Elsabbagh and Dr. Keiko Shikako. Our journey together has extended far beyond the realm of academia. Your unwavering support, guidance, and understanding during both the highs and lows of my life have been invaluable. I am forever grateful for your mentorship and friendship.

I extend my sincere appreciation to my committee members, Dr. Julie Scorah and Dr. Karen Bopp. Dr. Scorah, your guidance not only shaped my academic path but has also inspired my development as a hopeful clinician. Your expertise and constructive feedback have been invaluable. Dr. Bopp, I am grateful for your thoughtful insights and contributions to my thesis.

To my friends in both the Elsabbagh and PAR-KT labs, I thank you. Special thanks to my lab mentors, Afiqah Yusuf and Sakiko Yamaguchi. Your feedback and support during this process have been essential. Jelena Popic, Gabo Blanco Gomez, Ananya Chandra, Kaela Amorim, Ebrahim Mahmoudi Kojidi, Linda Nguyen, Mehrnoosh Movahed, Roberta Cardoso, Alix Zerbo, Ellie-Anna Minogianis, Myriam Beauchamp, and Mandy Steiman, your support and willingness to lend a helping hand have greatly enhanced my research experience.

I am indebted to my dear friends, Demi Gaitanis, Katya Santucci, Celia Lucia, Alexis and Zoe Boosamra, Emma Ryan, Lizzy Harris, Sofia Constantopoulos, Olivia Elliot, and Tasso and Peter Housakos. Your presence in my life has been a source of strength, encouragement, and laughter. You have helped me maintain balance during this academic journey.

Special thanks go to Maria Korovessis, who has been more of a sister than a friend to me. Your steadfast presence and loyalty during my most difficult moments and your continuous support have been immeasurable. I am incredibly grateful for your support.

Theio Leo and Theia Demi, I thank you for your tireless work for getting Bill S-203 passed in Canadian Parliament as both a budding researcher and big sister. I have no doubt that this endeavour will change the lives of so many autistic Canadians. Thank you for being family.

Lastly, I want to express my deepest appreciation to my parents for their boundless love, encouragement, and sacrifices. Your unwavering belief in me and support have been the pillars that have carried me through every challenge. To my brother, Manoli, you have been my greatest inspiration. Everything I accomplish is a testament to the love you have instilled in me.

#### 3. Contribution to original knowledge

This thesis fills a critical knowledge gap in supporting the creation and implementation of stakeholder-driven and evidence-informed policies for youth and young adults with developmental delays, disorders, and disabilities (DDDs) and their families. The unique circumstances surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, combined with the challenges faced by caregivers of youth with developmental disabilities, called for an in-depth investigation into the factors that hindered and facilitated their ability to cope. We provide an original contribution towards contextualizing the perspectives of caregivers of youth and young adults with DDDs during the COVID-19 pandemic using Canada's policy landscape during the same period. This study marks the first attempt to comprehensively examine the experiences of caregivers and shed light on factors influencing their ability to cope, while assessing their alignment with policy.

The utilization of thematic analysis in this study contributes methodologically to the field by merging distinguished data points: parents' open-ended responses to a questionnaire and policy documents. Thematic analysis offers a systematic and rigorous approach to data analysis, allowing for the identification of patterns and themes across a vast amount of qualitative data. By employing this methodology, the current study captures the complexity and nuances of caregivers' experiences during the pandemic, while applying an analytical framework based on policy. Moreover, by contextualizing the barriers and facilitators to coping with the COVID-19 pandemic in caregivers of youth with DDDs and utilizing thematic analysis, this thesis paves the way for future studies in the field. The findings generated through this study not only expand our understanding of the unique challenges faced by caregivers but also provide valuable insights towards targeted public supports and policies for this population. The needs that were evidenced during the pandemic persist following the pandemic, highlighting the importance for consideration of this population in future emergency planning.

In conclusion, this thesis represents a significant contribution to original knowledge by addressing a previously unexplored research gap, being the contextualization of coping factors for caregivers of youth with DDDs in Canada during the COVID-19 pandemic using its policy landscape. By shedding light on the experiences of caregivers of youth with DDDs within the context of the pandemic and employing thematic analysis, coupled with a policy framework and themes to inform policy, this study enhances our understanding of their coping strategies and provides a foundation for further research and practical implications.

#### 4. Contribution of authors

Anna Katalifos (AK) was the lead writer of this thesis, while also contributing to its conceptualization, leading the data analysis, and interpreting the results. Afiqah Yusuf (AY), Nicola Wright (NW), Mandy Steiman (MS), Arun Karpur (AKA), Andy Shih (AS) contributed to data collection and validation for the study. Mayada Elsabbagh (ME) contributed to data collection, reviewed the thesis work, and secured funding. Sakiko Yamaguchi (SY) and Keiko Shikako (KS) contributed to and supervised data analysis. Finally, Karen Bopp (KB) and Julie Scorah (JS) contributed to the editing of the thesis work. Mayada Elsabbagh and Keiko Shikako oversaw all aspects of the thesis project.

### 5. List of Tables and Figures

- Table 1. Survey respondents by province/territory of residence
- Table 2. Survey respondent demographic information
- Table 3. Preliminary overarching codes

#### 6. Introduction

In March of the year 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak a global pandemic. Many countries imposed a variety of restrictive public health measures to mitigate the spread of the virus, including physical distancing from others, mandatory quarantining for citizens at home (Cucinotta & Vanelli, 2020), the closure or suspension of schools, daycares, health and social services, and in some cases, obligatory curfews, among other restrictions (Onyeaka et al., 2021). These public health measures were gradually lifted, and in some instances reinstated, depending on the severity of outbreaks.

In many countries, policies were published and implemented at various levels of government to support vulnerable populations during the COVID-19 pandemic (Béland et al., 2021; Mendoza et al., 2022). Children with developmental disabilities and disorders (DDDs) represent a vulnerable group. In the context of this thesis, DDDs refer to a wide group of suspected or diagnosed conditions that affect an individual in areas like socialization, language, learning, and day-to-day functioning.<sup>1</sup>

While many governments successfully slowed the spread of COVID-19 through the adoption of these regulations, scholarly findings indicate that children and youth DDDs experienced negative impacts on their wellbeing along with limited or reduced access to services and supports (Bentenuto et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2022). Compelling evidence suggests that preexisting vulnerabilities and inequities for many children and youth with developmental DDDs were amplified by the pandemic (Buonaguro & Bertelli, 2021; Spain et al., 2021). There is a dearth of research, however, surrounding the alignment between the needs and experiences of children and youth with disabilities and Canadian COVID-19 policies.

The current study seeks to determine barriers and facilitators to coping with the pandemic while considering the alignment of these needs with policies published during the same period. An online survey for caregivers of youth with a developmental disability was developed in conjunction with the WHO, UNICEF, and Autism Speaks to collect novel data to describe the experiences of these families before the COVID-19 pandemic. Objectives for the *Global Report Survey* in Canada were adjusted following the start of the pandemic to capture caregiver experiences during the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There are diverging preferences in the community with regards to use of terms like "disorder", VS "difference", VS "disability". In the context of this thesis, we adapted the same terminology used by the World Health Organization (WHO) and UNICFEF, to refer to this broad group of conditions.

public health emergency. Online survey data were collected from June to July 2020, leading to a convenience sample of caregivers of youth with DDDs across Canada. We conducted a thematic analysis of open-ended question responses using inductive and deductive coding on NVivo software. Parallels between caregiver-identified needs and policies put forward by governments during the pandemic supports the need to align families' and youths' experiences with public policy responses. Contextualizing caregivers' experiences through a policy lens can promote the development and management of support systems as we emerge from this public health crisis.

#### 7. Comprehensive review of relevant literature

## 7.1. Rights-based approaches in policymaking for developmental delays, disorders, and disabilities

Evidence suggests that policymaking for individuals with disabilities is most comprehensive when aligned with human-rights-based approaches (Shikako-Thomas & Shevell, 2018). An example is the 2006 *United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities* (UNCRPD), an international treaty ratified by 184 States Parties, including Canada. The UNCRPD provides each state signatory with a "code of implementation" to follow when drafting laws or administrative measures related to persons with disabilities. It has been created to support States Parties in the promotion of human rights while setting guidelines for abolishing discriminatory laws and administrative measures (United Nations, 2022). The Treaty advances the disability rights movement by shifting the paradigm of viewing persons with disabilities as "objects" of charity toward viewing them as "subjects" with rights who can make decisions for their lives based on their free and informed consent as well as participating as active members of their communities (United Nations, 2022).

In Canada, public strategies to support individuals with disabilities were passed and implemented by federal and territorial governments and ministries following the ratification of the UNCRPD. Current federal accessibility legislation is the 2019 *Accessible Canada Act* (ACA), passed with the goal of removing existing barriers to inclusion for persons with disabilities within the federal sphere while preventing the emergence of new barriers (Jacobs et al., 2021). The ACA defines a disability as "any impairment, including a physical, mental, intellectual, cognitive, learning, communication or sensory impairment [...] whether permanent, temporary, or episodic in nature, or evident or not, that, in interaction with a barrier, hinders a person's full and equal participation in society." The ACA also establishes a framework for accessibility standards through regulations and sets the objective to achieve a barrier-free Canada by the year 2040. The Act lists the following priority areas for removal of barriers: employment, the built environment, information and communication technologies, the design and delivery of programs and services the procurement of goods, services, and facilities transportation (Jacobs et al., 2021).

Many public supports are overseen and provided by provincial governments because of Canada's federalist context, which renders some jurisdictions as federal responsibilities (e.g.,

citizenship, unemployment insurance, national defence, census/statistics, currency) and others as provincial powers (e.g., health services and hospitals, education and schools, social welfare, and labour laws). Numerous daily essential services for children and youth with disabilities are thus accessed through their healthcare and educational institutions. Provincial accessibility legislations include Ontario's *Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act*, passed in 2005, Manitoba's *Accessibility for Manitobans Act*, passed in 2013, and Nova Scotia's *Accessibility Act*, passed in 2017. Concrete public supports for these youths and their families can include financial benefits and income support programs, tax measures, community and caregiver support programs, housing programs, employment measures, educational programs and subsidies for academic institutions supporting persons with disabilities, and advocacy. Evidence suggests that expenditures and public service users in Canada who have at least one disability have continued to rise across most provinces since the year 2000 (Finlay et al., 2020).

# 7.2. Children with developmental delays, disorders, and disabilities and vulnerability in public health emergencies

Despite Canada's ratification of the UNCRPD and the implementation of numerous public policies supporting persons with disabilities, this population is vulnerable to adversities in Canada. According to a 2018 report published by Statistics Canada, persons with more severe disabilities are at increased risk of living in poverty than their counterparts without disabilities or with milder disabilities (Morris et al., 2018). This same report found that, as disability severity level increased, the likelihood of being employed decreased, albeit that two in five of the individuals with a disability who were not employed and not currently in school had the potential to work (Morris et al., 2018). Moreover, academic research indicates that the needs of Canadian families of children and youth with disabilities are inadequately met by their public supports, as they may face challenges associated with access to social activities, a lack of information regarding services available to them, and more frequent interrupted service provision (e.g., parents feeling as though they are the case manager for their child, having to repeat their child's condition to other health and education professionals) (Brown et al., 2012). Other obstacles regarding utilization of public services for these youths and their families within high-income countries can include inadequate insurance coverage, difficulty obtaining referrals to specialist healthcare providers, and a lack of

care coordination and shared decision-making between service providers (Brown et al., 2012; Vohra et al., 2014).

Other research outcomes indicate that children with disabilities remain susceptible to adversities and subsequently require specific protections when compared to adults with disabilities or same-age peers without disabilities. They are at higher risk for socioeconomic hardship and homelessness, poor nutrition, domestic and sexual abuse, higher levels of stress and mental health complications, and bullying (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2020; UN Sustainable Development Group, 2020). Moreover, caregivers of youth with a neurodevelopmental disability have also been found to be increasingly likely to experience financial hardship, high levels of stress, and mental health complications (Bonis, 2016; Rothwell et al., 2019). Parent stress can be characterized as psychological symptoms of distress experienced by parents as a result of aversive responses to parental obligations (Deater-Deckard, 1998; Holly et al., 2019), and has been linked to negative impacts on the child's wellbeing (Crnic et al., 2017). Causes of stress in parents of children with disabilities include concerns about the child's symptoms, such as distressed behaviours (Craig et al., 2016), parents' socioeconomic status (Mathew et al., 2019), child sleep problems (Martin et al., 2019), and difficulties in access to services (Zamora et al., 2014).

#### 7.3. Impact of developmental delays, disorders, and disabilities on families

Caregivers of children with disabilities with intersectional identities are especially vulnerable when compared to their peers from non-equity-seeking groups. An integrative review found that immigrant families of children with disabilities faced challenges related to adaptation to their new settings, financial difficulties, reduced access to public and health services, and stigmatization by their communities (Alsharaydeh et al., 2019). Moreover, in high-income countries, being a youth with a disability from a visible minority background has been associated with decreased health service utilization and receiving poor quality of care (Coker et al., 2010; Pankewicz et al., 2020; Parish et al., 2012). Children with DDDs and their caregivers thus experience significant inequities when compared to youth without disabilities and their parents.

Evidence suggests that the vulnerabilities, inequities, and gaps in services and supports for children with DDDs are only exacerbated in the context of disastrous events. Disastrous events have been defined differently across the existing literature. For the purpose of this study, a disastrous event is referred to as a hazard that has consequences regarding damages to livelihood, economic disruptions, and/or casualties that are too great for the affected area and for individuals to manage without supports (Wisner et al., 2012). Following this description, the COVID-19 pandemic qualifies as a global disastrous event, in that it caused millions of deaths worldwide (Msemburi et al., 2023), significant disruptions to livelihood globally (Decerf et al., 2021; Gosh et al., 2022), and long term negative impacts on world economies (Chowdhury et al., 2022; Delardas et al., 2022).

#### 7.4. Mental health impacts

Evidence suggests that the negative mental health impacts following disastrous events can generate long periods of anxiety and depression in all individuals (Bolt et al., 2018; Labarda et al., 2020). Stressors specifically related to needing to quarantine can include prolonged quarantine duration, fears of being infected, frustration, boredom, inadequate supplies, insufficient information regarding lockdowns, financial loss, and stigma (Brooks et al., 2020). Research findings from previous disastrous events, including natural and manmade disasters, indicate that youth with DDDs are particularly vulnerable within crisis contexts when compared to their sameage peers without a disability. A stronger impact is perceived when daily routines and access to education are compromised (UNICEF). This is partly due to lack of consideration of their needs in the design of emergency responses and preparedness measures, and the lack of involvement of persons with disabilities in drafting emergency planning (Peek & Stough, 2010). Further findings indicate that this exclusion from disaster planning is due to the limited social, political, and economic structures and systems that are used to define and conceptualize disability along with a general lack of knowledge about disability by decisionmakers (Ronoh et al., 2015).

Higher poverty rates, elevated risk exposure, greater vulnerability to traumatic loss or separation from caregivers, and greater caregiver-related stress have been found to negatively impact the wellbeing of children with DDDs in disaster contexts (Peek & Stough, 2010). Mental health impacts for these children and youths can also be significant, in that they may experience adversities related to stress, grief, and other behavioural reactions following disaster (Ducy & Stough, 2021). Moreover, the wellbeing of children and youth with DDDs is negatively impacted by other adversities following disastrous events, such as housing challenges, physical health complications, social isolation, and stigma (Stough et al., 2017). These factors persist and impact

the recovery of these children once the circumstances surrounding the disastrous event have improved (Stough et al., 2017).

#### 7.5. The COVID-19 pandemic and developmental delays, disorders, and disabilities

The COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent disruptions of daily essential service utilization and support has been particularly challenging for individuals with a DDD. A recent scoping review by Taggart et al. (2022) sought to establish key learning points emerging from the literature regarding the experiences of individuals with DDDs during the pandemic (Taggart et al., 2022). This review found that policy responses from multiple high-income countries that had previously ratified the UNCRPD failed in protecting the human rights of persons with DDDs, having reported limited availability to personal protection materials, lack of information in plain-language formats, closure of essential services, and, disturbingly, compulsory covert "do not resuscitate" orders placed upon this population, among others (Taggart et al., 2022). Findings from this scoping review stress the need for better inclusion of this population in emergency planning and responses for future pandemics and disastrous events.

Moreover, the impacts of public health measures adopted to mitigate the spread of the COVID-19 virus contributed to mental health challenges for children with DDDs, resulting from a lack of access to social networks and activities, gaps in access to health supports, and tensions within their family units (Aishworiya & Kang, 2021; Akobirshoev et al., 2022; Currie et al., 2022). The pandemic was also challenging for caregivers of children and youth with DDDs in that they experienced higher levels of stress and mental health complications than parents of neurotypical youth (Corbett et al., 2021; Samji et al., 2022) and of youth with intellectual disabilities or a visual or hearing impairment (Chen et al., 2020). Higher stress levels in caregivers may have further exacerbated negative impacts of the pandemic on children with disabilities as they may have needed to rely on their caregivers more heavily. Other negative impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the wellbeing of children with disabilities as reported by their caregivers were reduced exercise and poorer sleep and diet quality (Masi et al., 2021).

Reported stressors in caregivers related to the pandemic included, but were not limited to, changes in their children's routines, worrying about contracting the COVID-19 virus, and transitioning to online learning (Adams et al., 2021). One study found that over half of parents of youth reported a significant increase in stress during the pandemic, notably related to the closure

of child facilities and social distancing, with a subgroup of these parents reporting heightened depressive symptoms and anxiety (Calvano et al., 2022). Parent stress is an important factor to consider in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, as it has been found to impact the emotional regulation and lability/negativity of their children, with parent-perceived self-efficacy acting as a mediator (Morelli et al., 2020). Moreover, early evidence from the pandemic indicates that many parents that did experience negative mental health consequences related to COVID-19 did not access any online or phone psychiatric support (Gallagher & Wetherell, 2020). The wellbeing of these children may also be affected, as low parent self-efficacy has been linked to increased internalizing problems and negative emotionality in children when compared with caregivers with high parent self-efficacy (Albanese et al., 2019).

## 7.6. The WHO Global Report Survey on Developmental Delays, Disorders, and Disabilities

Assessing the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on youth with DDDs and their caregivers while considering their experiences helps to identify priority areas for service improvement. The *Global Report Survey on Developmental Delays, Disorders, and Disabilities*, henceforth the *Global Report Survey*, exists as an ongoing initiative led by the WHO, UNICEF, and Autism Speaks to describe experiences of caregivers of youth with DDDs worldwide (Gonzalez, 2021). This project seeks to increase awareness, compile novel data, provide guidance to strengthen health systems, and to engage international and country-level partners in various spheres affecting youth with DDDs. The development of the *Global Report Survey* project began before the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result of the additional challenges faced by families of youth with DDDs during the initial months of the pandemic, objectives for the *Global Report Survey* were adjusted to reflect potential impacts of this public health emergency. The objectives of the *Global Report Survey* in Canada were thus adapted to "assess the impact of the pandemic on the health and wellbeing of caregivers and their children" and to "understand the patterns of help seeking access to services and supports prior to and during the pandemic" (Gonzalez, 2021).

Canadian federal and provincial governments implemented public service strategies to address challenges faced by disabled youth and their families during the pandemic (Béland et al., 2021). However, evidence from the Canadian iteration of the *Global Report Survey* suggests that many caregivers of youth with DDDs reported difficulties with accessing information in the form

of services and supports available during the pandemic, obtaining educational plans for schooling their children at home, and an overall worsening of child's symptoms related to their disability in isolation (Gonzalez, 2021). Further findings from the *Global Report Survey* indicate that some youth with disabilities and their families may have faced more layers of vulnerability than others. A recent study using this data found that various sociodemographic characteristics of families of youth with DDDs affected their receipt of physical and mental health services during the COVID-19 pandemic (Gonzalez et al., 2022). Caregiver-related factors that decreased the likelihood of receiving services were being a single parent, having low educational attainment (high school or less), working less than full time (working part-time, working reduced hours due to the pandemic, being a stay-at-home parent or student, or retired), and having a yearly income lower than \$40,000. Child- and youth-related factors that decreased the likelihood of service utilization were male gender and older age (Gonzalez et al., 2022).

Other findings from the Global Report Survey in Canada support the notion that, while many children and youth with DDDs managed negative impacts because of the pandemic, a considerable minority displayed resilience. Resilience can be defined as experiencing better-thanexpected outcomes in the face of adversity (Rutter, 2006). In some DDDs, such as autism spectrum disorder, some risk factors for hindered resilience can be considered modifiable to improve resilience outcomes, namely enhanced parenting skills and self-efficacy, outside of the context of a disastrous event (Elsabbagh, 2020). A latent class analysis of the Canadian iteration of the Global Report Survey data found that parenting self-efficacy and support in accessing schooling were modifiable factors for resilience in children with a DDDs during the pandemic (Yusuf et al., 2022). This same analysis highlighted the need for tailored supports responding to different diagnoses through interventions fostering caregiver empowerment along with maintained access to schooling, health, and social services (Yusuf et al., 2022). Evidence suggests that some parents of youth with a DDD in other countries found the establishment of coping strategies useful in managing the impact of the pandemic (Mumbardó-Adam et al., 2021). These strategies included structuring their days, using visual supports or new technologies for learning and leisure, online contact with relatives, and online psychological supports (Mumbardó-Adam et al., 2021). Considering factors that promote resilience in Canadian youths and their families is essential in improving their outcomes as we develop and reinstate public tailored supports for the transition out of the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### 7.7. Study Objectives

While the COVID-19 pandemic presented significant negative impacts on families of youth with DDDs in Canada and exacerbated existing inequities, there remains a dearth of information regarding whether the needs of these families aligned with public supports created and implemented during the same period. The current study aims to:

- 1. Describe the experiences of youth with DDDs and their caregivers in Canada during the pandemic.
- 2. Contextualize their experiences in relation to Canadian COVID-19 policies for persons with disabilities to identify alignment and gaps.

Secondary objectives are to a) describe barriers and facilitators identified by caregivers and identify factors related to coping with the pandemic, b) contextualize these barriers and facilitators within Canada's public policy response to COVID-19, and c) inform public policy and services on the areas of need in recovering from the pandemic. Understanding the experience of these families during the pandemic can aid in providing priority areas for public supports as we emerge from the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### 8. Methods and Materials

The data source for this study is qualitative data (open-ended responses) from the Canadian iteration of the WHO World Health Organization Global Report Survey on Developmental Delays, Disorders, and Disabilities. Questions for the Global Report Survey were developed based on COVID-19 UNICEF and WHO policy guidance recommendations for persons with disabilities, and the United Nations Washington Group Disability Statistics indicators (Gonzalez et al., 2021; Gonzalez et al., 2022; Washington Group). In Canada, question topics for the Global Report Survey included a set of questions related to the COVID-19 pandemic experiences and subsequent access to care supports, mental health impact, and coping (a total of 49 Likert-scale, multiple choice, and open-ended questions). The survey was distributed online through social media platforms (e.g., Facebook, LinkedIn, etc.) along with the mailing lists of partner organizations and individual collaborators, including parents and researchers within the team's network. This resulted in a non-random, convenience sample of caregivers of youth with DDDs. We used a crosssectional design, and the survey was available in both English and French. Data were collected from June 11th to July 21st of 2020. Participants of the survey were identified as being primary caregivers to a child, youth, or adult with a DDD. Each participant was offered CAD\$15 for their participation in the survey, and written informed consent was obtained.

We analyzed qualitative data from the *Global Report Survey* for the following two openended questions of the *Survey*. Participants were asked: "Write down anything that has made it harder to keep safe and cope during the pandemic. Think about yourself and everyone in your home when answering.", and "Write down anything that has made it easier to cope to keep safe and cope during the pandemic. Think about yourself and everyone in your home when answering." The survey provided participants with a text box without a character limit to respond to these questions.

#### 8.1. Ethics approval

The current study was approved by the Research Ethics Office (Institutional Review Board) of the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences at McGill University (study ID: A10-M75-12B).

#### 8.2. Data validation

A two-stage screening process was used for data validation. Once the survey closed, the dataset (n=2133) was verified for invalid cases. In the first stage, the research team identified potentially erroneous responses by checking for: a) duplicate IP addresses, b) incorrect responses in free-text fields (e.g., participant's name), c) duplicate responses to open-ended questions, d) completing the survey in less than ten minutes, e) impossible time gap between the ages of caregiver and the respondent, and f) cases where the same multiple-choice response was selected repeatedly. Data were cleaned and responses from 883 caregivers of children and youth with disabilities (caregiver age range: 0-41 years) were deemed valid. Responses from participants for this project were retained only if they responded to both open-ended questions of the *Global Report Survey*.

#### 8.3. Data analysis

Qualitative data from open-ended question responses of the *Global Report Survey* underwent a thematic analysis using inductive coding (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Wæraas, 2022). English and French open-ended question responses were reviewed and coded by a bilingual team member AK. My co-supervisor, KS, and a postdoctoral student in her laboratory, SY, trained and supported me, the principal investigator, in inductive coding. Codes were defined as labels or tags assigned to text from the open-ended responses of caregivers.

We used NVivo software (version 1.7.1) to store and organize qualitative data and codes. Open-ended question responses were uploaded to NVivo software with their numerical participant identifier to record and link the respondent's province of residence and other sociodemographic information to their responses.

The dataset underwent two rounds of coding to account for any coding errors. These rounds of coding led to the creation of a codebook containing codes emerging from the dataset. Definitions were drafted and included for each of these codes. The codes were then reviewed and grouped into overarching codes, based on common themes. For example, the codes "mental health complications in the youth with a disability" and "mental health complications in the caregiver of the youth with a disability" were grouped into the "mental health" overarching code. Overarching codes were identical for both barriers and facilitators. The codes' definitions were consulted when collapsing and expanding codes in subsequent analysis phases. The principal investigator (AK)

met regularly with the co-supervisors (ME, KS) and a senior trainee (SY) to review codes, discuss analysis, and make decisions in group about collapsing, expanding, and creating new directions in analysis.

An audit trail of analysis decisions was maintained between members of the research team (AK and SY) and start and end dates to coding were recorded. To achieve reliability and consistency with coding, the team met regularly to discuss and refine the codebook and analysis findings (AK, SY, KS). Any changes made to the codebook (e.g., merging of two similar codes, removing duplicate codes, etc.) were dated and initialed on a record sheet.

#### 8.3.1. Researcher positionality

Researcher positionality refers to an individual's world view and the position they adopt about a research task and its social and political context (Holmes, 2020; Reich, 2021). Qualitative researchers often disclose their social location with respect to the subjects they study, with some suggesting that a scientist's proximal positionality to their area of focus often strengthens their analysis (Reich, 2021).

In undertaking research focused on mental health and factors related to coping among caregivers of youth with DDDs during the pandemic, it is essential to acknowledge and articulate my positionality as lead author. I am the only sibling and one of three primary caregivers to an autistic young adult, Manoli (21), who has complex needs and requires ongoing support. My role as both a caregiver and a researcher bring distinctive perspective to this study, influencing the way I approach, interpret, and contextualize participants' experiences.

I am intimately familiar with challenges and emotions that caregivers of individuals with developmental disabilities may face during and outside the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. My lived and living experience places me in a unique position, allowing me to foster a sense of empathy and understanding that is surely reflected in the way I interpreted and analyzed the responses of participants. As someone deeply invested in the wellbeing of my sibling, there may be an inclination to emphasize certain aspects of the participants' experiences or inadvertently overlook others. To account for the position I occupy as a researcher, I maintained a reflexive stance throughout the research process, continuously examining my own assumptions, and actively seeking out alternative viewpoints with my thesis supervisors, mentors, and advisory committee.

#### 9. Results

A total of five hundred and seventy-six (N=576) caregivers from all Canadian provinces and territories provided responses to open-ended survey questions, except for New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island and Nunavut. The total word count for the open-ended question regarding barriers to keeping safe and coping during the pandemic yielded 11 978 words, and the open-ended question regarding facilitators to keeping safe and cope during the pandemic yielded 7553 words. The total number of words analyzed for the current study was 19 531 words. Respondents resided in diverse geographic locations including urban, suburban, and rural settings, with both low- and high-income households represented. The children and youth of participants had at least one DDD, but many possessed multiple diagnoses, with a diverse range of diagnoses represented, including autism spectrum disorder, intellectual disabilities, anxiety disorders, vision and hearing impairments or issues, troubles with mobility, sleeping disorders, eating disorders, chronic breathing problems, and epilepsy, among others.

#### 9.1. Participant characteristics

Table 1 describes the Canadian province or territory of residence as indicated by the respondent. Most participants indicated their province of residence as Ontario, Quebec, or British Columbia. Table 2 describes sociodemographic characteristics for the sample.

*Table 1. Survey respondents by province/territory of residence* 

Province	Number of participants (n=576)
Ontario	197 (34.2%)
Quebec	115 (19.9%)
British Columbia	88 (15.2%)
Alberta	79 (13.7%)
Saskatchewan	29 (5.0%)
Manitoba	27 (4.7%)
Newfoundland and Labrador	11 (1.9%)
Yukon	9 (1.6%)
Nova Scotia	8 (1.4%)

Northwest Territories	1 (0.2%)
Unknown/not specified by respondent	12 (1.9%)

Table 2. Survey respondent demographic information

Sociodemographic characteristics of ca	regivers of Number of participants (n=576)
youth with DDDs	
Language of survey completed by participa	ant
English	465 (80.7%)
French	111 (19.3%)
Gender identity of participant	
Male	141 (24.5%)
Female	426 (73.9%)
Missing	9 (1.6%)
Gender identity of youth with DDD	
Male	350 (60.7%)
Female	216 (37.5%)
Missing	10 (1.7%)
Age of participant	
11-20 years	1 (0.2%)
21-30 years	61 (10.6%)
31-40 years	339 (58.9%)
41-50 years	116 (20.1%)
51-60 years	39 (6.8%)
61-70 years	9 (1.6%)
71-80 years	1 (0.2%)
Missing	10 (1.7%)
Racial identity of participant	
Indigenous	123 (21.4%)
White/Caucasian	371 (64.4%)
Chinese	4 (0.7%)

South Asian (e.g., East Indian, Pakistani, Punjabi, Sri	24 (4.2%)
Lankan)	
Black (e.g., African, Haitian, Jamaican, Somali)	17 (3%)
Arab/West Asian (e.g., Armenian, Egyptian, Iranian,	11 (1.9%)
Lebanese, Moroccan)	
Southeast Asian (e.g., Cambodian, Indonesian, Laotian,	3 (0.5%)
Vietnamese)	
Filipino	3 (0.5%)
Latin American	11 (1.9%)
Korean	1 (0.2%)
Other	14 (2.4%)
Missing	8 (1.4%)
Educational attainment of participant	
Elementary school or less	2 (0.3%)
High school	56 (9.7%)
Diploma	129 (22.4%)
Undergraduate degree	233 (40.5%)
Master's degree	96 (16.7%)
Degree in Medicine, Dentistry, Veterinary Medicine,	16 (3%)
Optometry, or Law	
Doctorate	5 (0.9%)
Other	23 (4%)
Missing	16 (3%)
Household income in 2019	
Less than \$20,000	38 (6.6%)
\$20,000-\$39,999	55 (9.5%)
\$40,000-\$59,999	135 (23.4%)
\$60,000-\$79,999	136 (23.6%)
\$80,000-\$99,999	106 (18.4%)
\$100,000-\$250,000	86 (14.9%)
>\$250,000	6 (1%)

Missing 14 (2.4%)

#### 9.2. Thematic analysis

Codes were assigned to the open-ended question responses from caregivers of the survey. These codes were then grouped into twelve overarching codes based on their themes. Please refer to Table 3 for a list of the preliminary overarching codes emerging from the qualitative data.

Table 3. - Preliminary overarching codes

Overarching code	Description
Child's condition	Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic that are
	associated with the disability/condition that their child/youth possesses.
Mental health	Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic that are
	associated with the mental health of themselves, their youth with a
	disability, and the rest of their families.
Physical health	Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic that are
	associated with the physical health of themselves, their youth with a
	disability, and the rest of their families.
Caregiving	Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic that are
	associated with caregiving for their youth with a disability and maintaining
	their families' wellbeing.
Relationships	Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic that are
	associated with their interpersonal relationships along with the
	relationships in their homes.
Family finances	Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic that are
	associated with their ability to generate and maintain their household
	income.
Education	Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic associated
	with educational institutions and services.
<b>Public services</b>	Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic associated
	with public social services or their governments.

**Community** Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic associated

with interactions and resources from their local communities.

**Environment** Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic associated

with their physical environments (e.g., indoor, and outdoor spaces).

**Information** Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic associated

with information made available via various sources of media (e.g., press

conferences, safety guidelines regarding COVID-19).

COVID-19 Caregivers described factors related to coping with the pandemic that are

specific to COVID-19 (e.g., the virus itself, public health measures and

restrictions).

#### 9.2.1. Caregiver-identified barriers to coping with the pandemic

Caregivers described what made coping difficult during the pandemic. Barriers to coping at the individual level are described below and included: a) mental health complications, experienced by the caregiver, their child or youth with a DDD, and other members of the family; b) caregiver fatigue; c) maintenance of physical health and sanitary measures; d) limited access to health and social services; e) disruption of education services; f) caregiver employment challenges and situations.

#### 9.2.1.1. Mental health complications

Mental health complications for the youth with a DDD were identified as a perceived increase in anxiety and depression since the beginning of the pandemic, dysregulation, and distressed behaviours related to the youth's disability (e.g., increase in frequency of meltdowns, acts of aggression and violence against themselves or others within the home, refusing food and/or sleep). A caregiver from Ontario reported: "It has been hard to cope because my children thrive on routine and I'm not able to provide it for them. Because of this, they have regressed in every possible way. [They engage in] self-injury [...] and [are] violent [toward us]. [They are] no longer sleeping at night and [refuse] food [...]. My husband is working full-time [until] midnight, so I don't get a break from the children, and we are all just emotionally drained and exhausted." Another caregiver from Quebec explained: "The most difficult thing was the drastic change in my son's routine. Routine changes are very difficult for him and going from regular trips to school

[and] respite to sitting at home all day was extremely difficult for him. He had a lot of aggression and anxiety because he didn't understand what was happening."

In contrast, mental health complications mentioned in caregivers were perceived increases in anxiety and stress, lack of sleep, feelings of depression, hopelessness, and loneliness, and heightened familial and/or marital conflict. A respondent from Alberta described: "No time for [me]: playmate, parent, [work] and homeschooling. Not a minute to do anything for me. Arguing with my husband. No control for the present or future causes incredible anxiety. My child with autism needs to move and be out and about. He's going crazy, anxiety is up. We have no choice but to stay home. It's so hard. Worried about the impact on my daughter as well. Worry. Worry. Worry. All. The. Time." Another caregiver from Ontario expressed: "I was at a loss what to do with my life." Some caregivers also articulated a perceived increase in the frequency of events of domestic abuse. A sibling caregiver from Quebec stated: "[...] Since the beginning of [the pandemic], I experienced violence in my home and had to live with constant fighting throughout the entire pandemic, since there was no way to avoid the person in question without being able to go to work or school." (Translated from French).

#### 9.2.1.2. Caregiver fatigue

Survey respondents also expanded upon caregiver fatigue as a stressor, with one caregiver from Alberta stating: "I found it difficult to get a break. Ideally, I wanted them out of my home while I tidy. This was not possible. My [expletive] husband was still doing his masters and was reluctant to take them out. All childcare and education [were] dumped on me. I am a healthcare worker and [have] to find my own time to learn more about the virus. [...] I suffer. Like most women. Right?" Another individual-level barrier was having more than one child with a disability. Caregivers spoke to the difficulty of listing and then prioritizing their family members' and their own competing needs. A caregiver from Alberta expressed: "One child finds video conferencing too stimulating and [cannot] participate without being dysregulated for the remainder of the day. The other child is severely dyslexic and needs help to do even basic homework which isn't possible to give while trying to work from home." Another caregiver from Alberta stated: "I am stretched thin. The pandemic stretched me more." Several caregivers also reported a lack of or completely restricted access to psychological services as a barrier to coping related to mental health for the whole family.

#### 9.2.1.3. Maintenance of physical health and sanitary measures

Another obstacle faced by these families revolved around the management of physical health and hygiene during quarantine. Participants confirmed the restricted access or complete unavailability of family and specialist physicians, physical, speech, and occupational therapy services, and prescription medication. A caregiver from Ontario explained: "The limit on prescriptions has made it challenging to venture out monthly as a single parent with a child in a wheelchair [who is] immune compromised. Hard to keep safe when some hospital appointments weren't rescheduled, and we still needed to make it to them." Similarly, another caregiver from Quebec stated: "My daughter had intense tooth pain during quarantine and finding a dentist during quarantine [was difficult], (even more so for a 25-year-old with a severe intellectual disability) and normally it's hard." (Translated from French) Moreover, several participants reported difficulties with following public health measures in place to reduce the spread of the virus, such as social distancing, mask wearing, and frequent handwashing. A caregiver from Alberta reported: "My daughter has very limited [spatial] awareness so this hampers her physical distancing, and it also makes strangers upset because they do not understand. She has sensory issues and cannot wear a mask."

#### 9.2.1.4. Limited access to health and social services

Caregivers described the limited or no access to public and private social and health service-related supports for themselves or their child with a disability as a barrier to coping with the pandemic. This included hindered access to autonomous and semi-autonomous living centres, in-home and out-of-home respite care services, and rehabilitation services, among others. The moratorium of such services was reported as resulting from lockdowns related to virus outbreaks and understaffing. One participant from Alberta spoke to this loss of services: "Lack of support. Zero respite. Zero. That's how it is for every parent of a disabled child. For those who are single parents, their emotional [and] mental health [are] deteriorating. There is zero help. Zero." Some caregivers also expressed that some health- and social-related services that had transitioned to online platforms, such as Zoom and Skype, were rendered ineffective, as maintaining the sustained attention of their youth for the duration of the online session was unfeasible.

Caregivers highlighted the moratorium of in-home services as a significant barrier to coping, such as aid from Personal Support Workers (PSWs). One caregiver from Ontario stated:

"Access to nursing and PSW supports is limited as staff also work out in the community. [Ontario Local Health Integration Networks] staff that work for families via self-directed funding were not offered the 4\$ top-up for front line workers until [two] days ago. This meant many nurses and PSWs choose to work out in the community instead of [committing] to working with one family." Another reported issue for access was the inability for caregivers to see their special needs child or young adult that was staying in a public residence due to lockdowns. A caregiver from Quebec stated: "My daughter lives in [publicly funded] intermediate resource [housing] and I was not allowed to visit her. This caused me great distress and my daughter had to increase her prescription medication." (Translated from French)

Finally, several caregivers reported feeling a lack of access to administrative staff of their health and social service providers, along with a lack of care coordination for their youth with a DDD. A caregiver from Quebec reported: "We were alone in taking care of our autistic child along with our four-year-old daughter, all while working from home. We asked for help from our [Centre local de services communautaires] CLSC and we are still waiting for a response. While looking for help, we are bounced around from one person to another, and this becomes extremely exhausting" (Translated from French).

#### 9.2.1.5. Disruption of education services

Caregivers also spoke to difficulties related to their child or youth's education and schooling, namely the loss of access to teachers and academic staff and navigating the transition to online schooling. Several participants noted a limited ability to keep up with learning materials and contend with other caregiving, work, and academic responsibilities. One caregiver reported: "My child is in shared custody with [their] father. Taking care of a child by myself with non-verbal autism while working on a major project for work in a university setting was very stressful. I could not provide educational support and enough physical activity. Just handling basic needs was overwhelming. [...]" Another caregiver from Alberta expressed "[Not having] school has impacted us. Change in routine to online school has been very hard. [Implementing] a new schedule has been next to impossible. [To] support my autistic child, I would need help or more hours in a day to be prepared for the next [day's] activities, assignments, and schedule. [...] Missing friends, teachers, family, and routines. New rules to learn. Some [too] hard to understand with a receptive language delay. [...]" Other barriers to coping that were related to schooling

included challenges with sustained attention for their youth and online classes, reported cuts to the schools' budgets, and a lack of material resources needed for online learning, such as a stable internet connection and computers.

Several caregivers also reported the halted educational development and progress of their youth with a disability as a barrier to coping. One such caregiver reported: "We had the most amazing and supportive teacher this year and our child was finally making progress on his social skills. He was on the precipice of positive change. And all of that has been wiped out. Next fall, if school returns, he will be a shell [...] of himself, afraid to be close to people. Also, his time with this amazing teacher is finished and we have to learn and connect with yet another one." Another caregiver from Ontario explained: "The sudden disconnect from school supports was tough. It took a while to get the teachers able to connect directly with students. Online learning worked for our [neurotypical] child, but not for our child with additional needs. He needs 1:1 support to access the curriculum. With both of us, [his parents], working full time from home, there was no one extra to support the work that was sent home."

#### 9.2.1.6. Caregiver employment challenges and situations

Another barrier to coping with the pandemic included job loss, a reduction in working hours, unemployment, and an overall worsening of the family's finances. Some reported struggling to pay for food and living essentials, along with housing and other living costs. A caregiver from Quebec reported: "I have worked in a specialized school for 22 years. I won't be able to return to work because I do not have the financial means to pay someone to [watch my 27-year-old daughter] for 38 hours per week. [This means we are living with] financial insecurity, job loss without access to [Canada's Emergency Response Benefit] CERB, a significant decrease in revenue for the household, and enormous stress." (Translated from French) Another caregiver from Quebec described "[...] my employer decided to no longer provide the option of working from home and forced me to take a leave without pay because he did not consider my child's condition. [...]" (Translated from French)

Moreover, several caregivers reported being an essential worker during the pandemic as a barrier to coping, with some displaying concern about bringing the virus into their homes and a lack of protective materials against the virus provided by public employers.

External barriers that related to their ability to cope are described below and included: a) limited access to play and physical activity; b) limited social interactions, and c) lack of accessible information and supports.

#### 9.2.1.7. Limited access to play and physical activity

External barriers to coping with the pandemic included insufficient outdoor and indoor spaces for play and leisure for the youth and their caregiver. A caregiver from Ontario stated: "We have a backyard for our daughter to play, however not having access to playgrounds has been very hard as she is a very active child who needs to burn off energy to be happy". Moreover, several caregivers reported small living spaces as a barrier to coping with the pandemic, with a participant from Quebec describing: "It is extremely difficult for six people to constantly be in a three-bedroom apartment." (Translated from French)

#### 9.2.1.8. Decreased social interactions

Other barriers that were specifically related to the COVID-19 pandemic included a significant decrease in social interactions with people living outside the home due to mandatory lockdowns and a general fear of contracting the virus. This fear of contracting COVID-19 seemed to be exacerbated when either the child or the caregiver was immunocompromised or an essential worker (e.g., physicians, nurses, teachers, etc.). One such caregiver from Quebec described: "I needed to leave the home for work, and despite the measures we took [to avoid virus contraction], we received a false alarm. This worried me terribly because I do not want my daughter to contract the virus. I couldn't imagine her being alone in the hospital." (Translated from French) Other external stressors reported by participants included a dearth of essential and protective materials (e.g., masks, surgical gloves, disinfectants) and cleaning supplies. This stressor became particularly challenging when reported by families living in rural areas. One caregiver from Ontario stated: "Living in a rural environment means driving everywhere. It was often tricky to get to places before [they] closed. It was tricky to get to places before they sold out of some cleaning supplies."

#### 9.2.1.9. Lack of accessible information and supports

Moreover, several participants reported feeling abandoned by their governments. One such caregiver from Ontario stated "[...] We were again forgotten by our [government] so we struggled with adding expenses and reduced [working hours] for my partner." Several caregivers also reported that managing information from various sources was a barrier to coping with the pandemic. Specifically, some participants reported receiving inconsistent or too much information regarding the state of the spread of the virus and how to mitigate its spread. A caregiver from Quebec reported: "Trying to act and live like everything is normal but obviously it's not [made it harder to cope]. Also, the day-to-day changes in information we have received from the [government] and school has made it difficult to keep up with what is going on."

Finally, several caregivers also reported a lack of information specific to the needs and risks of COVID-19 infection of children and youth with disabilities as a barrier to coping. One such caregiver from Quebec stated: "There is a lack of communication between [my son's] healthcare team to know whether our son had specific risks with this novel virus" (Translated from French) Some caregivers also reported feeling alienated by their governments, citing a lack of communication of their needs. One such caregiver from Manitoba stated: "Families like ours were absolutely ABSENT from any conversation from politicians. We had no security for our daughter if me or my husband would be symptomatic. This felt like life or death." A participant from Alberta also described: "The media saying only the vulnerable are at risk [makes] it sound like our kids do not matter in this."

#### 9.2.2. Caregiver identified facilitators to coping with the pandemic

Several caregivers reported that nothing made coping and keeping safe during the pandemic easier. For instance, a caregiver from Alberta reported that "Nothing [has helped]. It has been horrible." Other caregivers reported some facilitators, but reiterated barriers to coping. One such participant from Manitoba stated: "Staying home, online ordering, and closures made it easier to stay safe, even [though] at the same time those same things made it harder to cope."

Individual-level facilitators related to coping during the pandemic were identified by caregivers as being: a) leisure; b) calmer daily routines; c) access to health and education services; d) support from extended family and community; e) maintenance of basic organization structures; f) financial supports, g) access to protective measures.

#### 9.2.2.1. Leisure

Leisure time, including media entertainment (e.g., watching movies and television shows and scrolling through social media platforms) and engaging in hobbies were facilitators in coping with the pandemic. Engaging in hobbies such as baking, home decorating, painting, meditation, and gardening were perceived as positive, as well as increased opportunities for time spent together. A caregiver from Manitoba stated: "Our family is great comfort for each other. We've relished our time home together. More family time, more outside time and more healthy practices." Another example of uplifting family interactions was videoconferencing with extended family (e.g., grandparents, aunts, and uncles, etc.) through platforms like Zoom and FaceTime. This was described as a facilitator to coping in both the youth with a DDD and the caregiver.

Facilitators linked to physical wellbeing included engaging in exercise for both the caregiver and the youth with a DDD, when possible, adopting a healthy diet, and staying adequately hydrated throughout the day. A caregiver from Quebec shared: "Finding thirty minutes to exercise on my elliptical, going for a walk by myself! Eating well." Another caregiver from Alberta expressed: "We are lucky to have a backyard and a nature/green space at the end of our street that no one else seemed to visit which allowed the kids to easily get out of the house and get some fresh air and exercise." Caregivers also highlighted the importance of sustained access to outdoor spaces for leisure and sports as a means of coping with the pandemic, with some noting that living in a rural area facilitated this. One participant from Manitoba mentioned: "living in a rural location where we could still play outside without interacting with other people."

#### 9.2.2.2. Calmer daily routines

Several caregivers also described perceived decreases in anxiety related to changes in their youth with a DDD. One such caregiver from Alberta described: "Limited transitions means fewer transition tantrums." Another caregiver from British Columbia expressed: "There is less interaction with society. Less driving in traffic, less being in crowded places. This makes it easier and less mentally draining. My children are not completely drained after the end of the school day and having meltdowns." Caregivers also spoke to the ability of their child to understand the pandemic as being a factor that facilitated their own ability to cope, with several caregivers citing child skill improvement in lockdown. A participant reported such advances in their youth's

development, stating that: "[...] Daily physiotherapy exercises [...] for [her] daughter [led to] an increase in strength in her legs." (Translated from French) Several caregivers also spoke to allowing their child to develop their own coping skills, with a participant from Ontario reporting that "[...] Letting my son dictate how much and what he does. Letting him have more screen time if that keeps him more [...] balanced emotionally."

Another facilitator impacting family coping consisted of a perceived "slowing down" of life. This perceived slowdown was described as no longer needing to commute to and from work or school while ensuring all family members were prepared for the day, with some participants even reporting being retired or on maternity leave as a facilitator to coping. A caregiver from Quebec stated: "Less stress due to no longer needing to wake up early and rush to get ready for school, more sleep, had time to play outside and walk each day. I was receiving an income so no financial stress, I could help my children with their academic tasks and see where they were at, family game time, having internet, we could stay in touch with parents and friends." (Translated from French) Several caregivers also reported the implementation of a new routine as a facilitator to coping. In addition, some participants cited finding ways to connect to routines implemented prior to the start of the pandemic and its subsequent quarantines. One such caregiver from Quebec described: "Taking [my son] for daily drives to see his favourite places helped a lot." Some caregivers also reported setting up a contingency plan for quarantining and caregiving among members of the home should they contract the COVID-19 virus as a facilitator to coping.

#### 9.2.2.3. Access to health and education services

Caregivers reported maintained access to healthcare providers, whether through virtual means such as videoconferencing and telephone calls or in-person appointments, as a facilitator to coping with the pandemic. A caregiver from Ontario described: "Virtual medical appointments made it easy to keep up with our health. Travel and doctor visits are stressful for my child, being able to do these from home, saved hours of stress on our family." Several caregivers cited preexisting experience and expertise in navigating public health-related systems and supports as a facilitator to coping. Another caregiver from Quebec described: "My training as an occupational therapist greatly facilitated my ability to continue my child's learning activities. [...]"

Maintained access to teachers and educational staff was also reported as a facilitator by caregivers, as was a solid understanding of navigating the educational system during the pandemic

and an awareness of scholastic resources available. A caregiver from Quebec stated "I have great knowledge of the educational field, which facilitated homeschooling. My children cooperated well and with a family meeting, we implemented a routine that responded to everyone's needs" (Translated from French). Another participant from Ontario reported that "It does make it easier when the educators [...] provide [my son with] sensory items and resources to try and keep him happy. The school has been essential to me in trying to get my children back on track."

#### 9.2.2.4. Support from extended family and community

Receiving caregiving support from other family members, friends, and community organizations was also identified as a facilitator for coping. This manifested in various ways, encompassing caregiving assistance such as respite and in-home care providers, alongside community and online resources, and even general check-ins (for example, online educational materials, virtual peer and parent support groups, community centers sending care workers for check-ins to families' homes). One caregiver from Ontario explained that "[they] have wonderful neighbours who allow [their] children to ride their bikes down their trails [...], a neighbour who brings [them] food and helps weed the garden. [The] local [Communities That Care Centre] has an excellent parent support group and many caring parents ([and] a couple staff) that help brainstorm ideas." Furthermore, several participants also highlighted the sense of community and witnessing compassion in others as additional facilitators for coping. A caregiver from Yukon reported, "The grocery stores in town have really gone above and beyond to make sure folks can continue to shop. That's because the owners care [...]."

### 9.2.2.5. Maintenance of basic organization structures

Some caregivers pointed to the maintenance of the cleanliness and organization of the family home and spaces as a facilitator to coping. Several caregivers also described attributing work- and school-related functions to specific areas of their homes as an organizational facilitator related to coping. For instance, a participant from Alberta stated: "Setting my husband's work area up separately in the basement helped him to stay working." Additionally, maintained access to food and grocery delivery services and online shopping for essentials, such as disinfectant products, laundry products, and personal hygiene products, was described as a facilitator to coping during the pandemic. Delivery of such products was also explained as a facilitator to coping, as

caregivers felt safer when they did not need to enter stores to purchase essential items where they were at risk of contracting the virus.

#### 9.2.2.6. Financial supports

Caregivers also reported facilitators to coping that were related to household income. Having the option of working from home was a facilitator to coping, in that they were able to supervise their children and youth with DDDs during school closures, along with maintaining a stable financial income. Several participants also reported that public financial aid helped them to cope. Specifically, the Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB) provided financial support to any employed and self-employed Canadian citizens whose employment status was directly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, with eligible recipients receiving \$CAD2000 for each fourweek period they required, between March 2020 to May 2022. A recipient of CERB from Quebec stated: "The Canadian Emergency Response Benefit [...] has been a huge relief because with that I don't need to do Uber (my second job), so I have more time to take care of my son." Several caregivers reported finding ways to save money as a facilitator to coping.

#### 9.2.2.7. Access to protective measures

Facilitators specifically related to the COVID-19 pandemic involved following public health measures, such as wearing a mask, social distancing, and isolation, when possible, for all members of the family. Several caregivers also reported having access to protective and disinfectant materials as a facilitator to coping and feeling protected from the virus. Moreover, caregivers reported that receiving information and updates on the spread of the virus from governmental representatives and experts, along with Health Canada's recommendations on staying safe, facilitated their coping.

#### 9.3. Caregiver perspectives and alignment with policies

Several of our team members (AK, SY, KS, ME) participated in a collaborative effort to analyze policies across Canada during the initial phases of the pandemic (Shikako et al., 2023). This endeavor encompassed an investigation of policies published by provincial and territorial governments from September 2020 to April 2021, marking the initial stages of the COVID-19 pandemic. Policies included for analysis pertained to the pandemic specifically, referred to persons

with disabilities or their caregivers, inclusive of youth 24 years of age or younger. Our approach involved employing text mining techniques in conjunction with thematic analysis to assess the content of policies while focusing on their alignment with UNCRPD articles and mental health supports.

Within the framework of our mental health impact model, our analysis revealed a relatively restricted scope of policies addressing the psychological implications of the pandemic on youth with DDDs (Shikako et al., 2023). Some policies acknowledged potential mental health risks stemming from disruptions to daily routines and prolonged isolations experienced during lockdowns. This subset of policies highlighting these risks was nonetheless even smaller when it came to addressing unique needs of children and youth with DDDs and their families. Additionally, none of these policies proposed action plans featuring specific services or structures aimed at mitigating adverse effects or fostering mental wellbeing during or after the pandemic for this group (Shikako et al., 2023).

When considering the analysis of provincial policies published during the pandemic's initial stages (Shikako et al., 2023), evidence from the present study underscores a discernible misalignment between the barriers and facilitators identified by caregivers and their youth with DDDs and the available public supports available during a national emergency. Notably, a limited number of COVID-19 policies were effectively aligned with practical services that addressed caregiver-identified barriers, such as extending assistance for mental health complications and ensuring ongoing service access for youth with DDDs. Our results also indicate that facilitators did align with pre-existing policies. Caregivers reported access to play and leisure and outdoor spaces, along with physical activities and sports as facilitators to coping. However, many COVID-19 public health restrictions were deterrents to accessing these facilitators as policies during the pandemic. A growing concern thus revolves around the inadequacy of considering social determinants of health in policymaking for youth with disabilities during and outside the context of emergencies (Chandra et al., 2023), with this issue only amplified by the context of the COVID-19 pandemic.

## 10. Comprehensive discussion of findings

The objective of this thesis project was to conduct a thematic analysis of the barriers and facilitators that caregivers identified related to their coping during the COVID-19 pandemic. Our aim was to contextualize the experiences of children and youth with DDDs and their caregivers during this public health emergency while describing their alignment with the Canadian public policies targeted at this demographic. The outcomes of our study reveal that this global disastrous event has impacted both the mental wellbeing and external stressors faced by youth with DDDs and their caregivers. These stressors encompass deficiencies and losses in public services and support systems, concerns regarding food and financial insecurities, restricted access to medical and mental health professionals and services, and the challenge of caregiving for a youth with a DDD, all of which have contributed to shaping coping experiences and strategies within this population.

Our thematic analysis found that coping factors identified by caregivers of youth with DDDs aligned with existing literature. Caregivers articulated perceptions of negative mental health impacts for both them and their youth with a DDD, consistent with emergent COVID-19 literature pertinent to this demographic (Bentenuto et al., 2021; Currie et al., 2022). Participants further communicated a depletion of services and constrained care coordination between their youth's healthcare providers, also mirroring trends in existing literature (Currie et al., 2023; Gonzalez et al., 2022). Stressors encompassing physical health challenges during the pandemic, including gaps related to telehealth and services accessed through educational systems, have also been previously documented within this group (Arbour-Nicitopoulos et al., 2022; Lindsay & Ahmed, 2021; Merrick et al., 2023). Moreover, we posit that several coping facilitators may support modifiable factors for resilience, such as parent self-efficacy, for this population (Elsabbagh, 2020), as reported by caregivers in our sample. This includes receiving support in accessing schooling with online and material resources, maintained access to telehealth and in-person services and interventions where possible, along with public financial supports related to in the form of tax credits and emergency benefits. Some caregivers also reported improvements in their youth's skills (e.g., self-regulation, motor skills, etc.) as a facilitator to coping during the pandemic, which is consistent with pre-existing quantitative data from the same sample (Yusuf et al., 2022).

This study pioneers an exploration of the alignment between caregiver-identified barriers and facilitators to coping during the COVID-19 pandemic, contextualized using Canada's social

policy landscape. By doing so, this project not only enriches Canada's research ecosystem, but also plays a role in advancing methodologies and fostering the development and implementation of policies guided by stakeholders and informed by robust evidence for the benefit of youth with DDDs and their families. Furthermore, our study makes a significant contribution to the ongoing *Global Report Survey* initiative, aimed at documenting the experiences of youth with DDDs and their families throughout a global disastrous event. My thesis work holds distinctive value as it stands as the inaugural endeavor to delve into the *Global Report Survey*'s substantial qualitative dataset, thus enhancing the depth of insights that can be derived from this valuable resource, namely with respect to other policy analyses developed by the same team.

Social determinants of health can be described as non-medical factors that have been found to exert influence on health outcomes, encompassing facets such as income, education, unemployment and job security, housing, and food insecurity, social inclusion and discrimination, among others (World Health Organization, 2008). Scholarly findings indicate that persons with disabilities and their families may be inordinately impacted by social determinants of health (Frier et al., 2018; Wolbring, 2011), and that an acknowledgment for their effects on these groups is needed to adopt a rights-based approach to policymaking (Filipe et al., 2021; Gruskin et al., 2010). Within Canada's federalist context, many public services that underpin social determinants of health are offered through educational systems and schools (Government of Alberta; Government of New Brunswick; Government of Ontario). These systems faced notable disruptions and service moratoriums during the pandemic, speaking to the vulnerability of maintaining a high reliance on these settings to deliver essential services.

There is also increasing concern in the disability advocacy community about individuals with DDDs and their families and caregivers being insufficiently considered and included by decisionmakers when designing policies and supports for them (Chandra et al., 2023). Our findings indicated that many families of youth with DDDs felt alienated by their governments and public discussions around the needs of persons with disabilities during the pandemic. Improved consultation of persons with disabilities and youths with DDDs and an overall shift toward a policy co-design approach to policymaking for these groups could support the creation of better measures and a lesser sense of neglect in policy and program development (Seth et al., 2022). Children, youth, and their caregivers and families, along with community organizations and professionals, should be engaged in policy co-design at all stages of policy development, including

conceptualization, drafting, and implementation, facilitating policy co-design that can better reflect this population's priorities.

Findings from the current study may be timely, given the recent passing of national strategy legislation for autism spectrum disorder (ASD), the most prevalent neurodevelopmental disability, by the Canadian Parliament. The Bill S-203, *An Act respecting a federal framework on autism spectrum disorder*, received royal assent in Canadian Parliament on March 30, 2023. The Act mandates the drafting of a national framework for autism policy by the federal Ministry of Health. This framework must identify measures to enhance "equitable access to screening and diagnosis for [ASD], financial support for autistic persons and their families, [...] support for caregivers of [...], a national research network to promote research and improve data collection on [ASD], national campaigns to enhance public knowledge [...] and acceptance of [ASD] while accounting for intersectionality, [...] accessible and culturally relevant resources [...] on best available evidence-based information to support autistic persons, their families and caregivers, including information on effective treatments and ineffective or harmful treatments, mechanisms to ensure accountability in the use of federal funds for autistic persons and their families [...] (Parliament of Canada, 2023)."

The passing of Bill S-203 and its resulting drafting of a national framework represent a unique and unprecedented opportunity in Canada to integrate and implement evidence-based findings and a human-rights-based approach into autism policy. The needs of children and youth with DDDs and their families must be considered in emergency planning, as our results reinforce the notion that families experienced marginalization from service acquisition and access during the pandemic. Development of financial benefits and supports, such as potential tax benefits and/or direct financial supports, to help with expenses in caring for a child or youth with a DDD, should be considered, such as updating the Canada Disability Tax Credit (Dunn & Zwicker, 2018). Considerations include enhancing coordinated care between health, social, and education service providers. Information related to the COVID-19 virus and services and recommendations available must be accessible in language and have plain-language formats.

Finally, our results reinforce the notion that the COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated preexisting inequities for youths with disabilities and their families. Several caregivers described an alienation from public systems and service infrastructure that was only amplified by this global disaster. When drafting policy for youth with DDDs, it is essential to enshrine human-rights language, as outlined by the UNCRPD, to optimize social determinants of health through public systems and service provision infrastructure. The recent passing of Bill S-203 in Canada also represents an opportunity to contribute to Canada's disability policy landscape and develop and implement concrete supports for autistic youth and their families, while paving the way for future policy frameworks for other disabilities that align with protecting human rights.

### 10.1. Limitations and future directions

A potential limitation of this study was recruiting from a non-random convenience sample. While a strength of the study is the considerably large sample size of caregivers for the *Global Report Survey* who responded to open-ended questions, our sample may not have been representative of the target population of children and youth with disabilities in Canada. Many convenience samples comprise participants that are in proximity or are highly accessible to the research team. In the case of the current study, participants were recruited through our research network's social media networks and mailing lists of partners. Caregivers that do not have access to our networks were thus unable to take part in our study, along with families from marginalized communities that do not have access to reliable and stable internet connections and/or computers.

Another potential limitation of this study is that the *Global Report Survey* consisted of a cross-sectional design. These types of study designs offer insight into only one point in time, with a limited ability in describing changes in coping factors over longer periods. The survey was open during the initial weeks of the first summer of the COVID-19 pandemic, offering a snapshot of perspectives of coping during an uncertain period for Canadian families. The school year had just ended, with many children and youth with a DDD not having been in classrooms to receive services they may have been relying upon for over three months. Research about the virus and the way it spread was still scant, with plans for vaccine trials unclear and without a timeline. Travelling was also strongly discouraged by governmental officials, with mandatory two-week quarantines in place for all international travellers (Canadian Institute for Health Information, 2022). In some provinces, some restrictions related to public gatherings (e.g., the reopening of malls), had relaxed, and non-essential travel had reopened (Baker, 2020; Bélair-Cirino, 2020; Staff, 2020).

An examination of how Canadian provinces responded to the COVID-19 pandemic's public health policies revealed inconsistencies. Most public health actions exhibited significant variations in their timing of implementation across different provinces and territories (Cyr et al.,

2021). At this juncture in the pandemic, it is conceivable that due to the absence of a definite conclusion to the pandemic and its subsequent protective public health measures, caregivers may have experienced a profound sense of hopelessness, potentially influencing our findings. Consequently, there exists a need for further research to investigate coping mechanisms and mental wellbeing among this population during the later phases of the pandemic and its aftermath.

Moreover, several policies that were included in our discussion on alignment between policy and coping factors were published following the closure of the *Global Report Survey*. It is thus possible that the publishing and implementation of these policies could have affected alignment between caregiver-identified needs during the pandemic and public supports available. The reinstation or addition and implementation of novel public supports during the later stages of the pandemic could have assisted parents who felt inadequately supported by their public services, potentially affecting their responses to our open-ended questions.

Further research should also account for potential differences in responses following postal codes. Barriers and facilitators may have differed for families from rural, suburban, and urban areas, and notably when comparing areas with high versus low socioeconomic status. Better understanding of the variations in such responses can help to tailor supports for these families based on regional supports and public infrastructure available.

# 11. Conclusion and summary

Prioritizing the needs of families of youths with DDDs during a public health emergency can significantly impact their experiences with schooling and mental health. Findings from our study highlighted the need for increasing financial benefits and emergency physical and mental health supports for families of youth with a disability. Maintained offering of telehealth services and creating inclusive public spaces for play are also priority areas for decisionmakers as we emerge from the COVID-19 pandemic. Future legislation around disabilities must enshrine human-rights language, as posited by the UNCRPD, and approaches to promote social determinants of health. Policymakers must develop concrete action plans tailored to a post-COVID Canada for these youths and their caregivers, while enhancing strategies for future emergency planning.

### 12. References

- Adams, E. L., Smith, D., Caccavale, L. J., & Bean, M. K. (2021). Parents Are Stressed! Patterns of Parent Stress Across COVID-19 [Original Research]. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.626456
- Aishworiya, R., & Kang, Y. Q. (2021). Including Children with Developmental Disabilities in the Equation During this COVID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 51(6), 2155-2158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04670-6
- Akobirshoev, I., Vetter, M., Iezzoni, L. I., Rao, S. R., & Mitra, M. (2022). Delayed Medical Care And Unmet Care Needs Due To The COVID-19 Pandemic Among Adults With Disabilities In The US: Study examines delayed medical care and unmet care needs attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic among US adults with disabilities. *Health Affairs*, 41(10), 1505-1512.
- Albanese, A. M., Russo, G. R., & Geller, P. A. (2019). The role of parental self-efficacy in parent and child well-being: A systematic review of associated outcomes. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 45(3), 333-363.

  <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12661">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12661</a>
- Alsharaydeh, E. A., Alqudah, M., Lee, R. L. T., & Chan, S. W.-C. (2019). Challenges, Coping, and Resilience Among Immigrant Parents Caring for a Child With a Disability: An Integrative Review. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, *51*(6), 670-679. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12522
- Arbour-Nicitopoulos, K. P., James, M. E., Moore, S. A., Sharma, R., & Martin Ginis, K. A. (2022). Movement behaviours and health of children and youth with disabilities: Impact of the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic. *Paediatrics & Child Health*, 27(Supplement\_1), S66-S71. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/pxac007">https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/pxac007</a>
- Baker, R. (2020). Here's what to expect as B.C. enters Phase 3 of restarting its economy. *CBC British Columbia*. <a href="https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/bc-phase-3-changes-1.5625863">https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/bc-phase-3-changes-1.5625863</a>
- Bélair-Cirino, M. (2020). Pas de "confinement total" en cas de deuxième vague de COVID-19, dit Arruda. *Le Devoir*. <a href="https://www.ledevoir.com/politique/quebec/580593/coronavirus-point-de-presse-legault-11-juin">https://www.ledevoir.com/politique/quebec/580593/coronavirus-point-de-presse-legault-11-juin</a>

- Béland, D., Dinan, S., Rocco, P., & Waddan, A. (2021). Social policy responses to COVID-19 in Canada and the United States: Explaining policy variations between two liberal welfare state regimes. *Social Policy & Administration*, *55*(2), 280-294. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/spol.12656
- Bentenuto, A., Mazzoni, N., Giannotti, M., Venuti, P., & de Falco, S. (2021). Psychological impact of Covid-19 pandemic in Italian families of children with neurodevelopmental disorders. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *109*, 103840. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2020.103840">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2020.103840</a>
- Bolt, M. A., Helming, L. M., & Tintle, N. L. (2018). The associations between self-reported exposure to the Chernobyl nuclear disaster zone and mental health disorders in Ukraine. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *9*, 32.
- Bonis, S. (2016). Stress and parents of children with autism: A review of literature. *Issues in mental health nursing*, 37(3), 153-163.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a">https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a</a>
- Brooks, S. K., Webster, R. K., Smith, L. E., Woodland, L., Wessely, S., Greenberg, N., & Rubin, G. J. (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *The Lancet*, 395(10227), 912-920. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30460-8
- Brown, H. K., Ouellette-Kuntz, H., Hunter, D., Kelley, E., & Cobigo, V. (2012). Unmet Needs of Families of School-Aged Children with an Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 25(6), 497-508. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3148.2012.00692.x
- Buonaguro, E. F., & Bertelli, M. O. (2021). COVID-19 and intellectual disability/autism spectrum disorder with high and very high support needs: issues of physical and mental vulnerability. *Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities*, *15*(1), 8-19.
- Calvano, C., Engelke, L., Di Bella, J., Kindermann, J., Renneberg, B., & Winter, S. M. (2022). Families in the COVID-19 pandemic: parental stress, parent mental health and the occurrence of adverse childhood experiences—results of a representative survey in Germany. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 31(7), 1-13. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-021-01739-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-021-01739-0</a>

- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2022). *Canadian COVID-19 Intervention Timeline*.

  Canadian Institute for Health Information. Retrieved July 23 2023 from <a href="https://www.cihi.ca/en/canadian-covid-19-intervention-timeline">https://www.cihi.ca/en/canadian-covid-19-intervention-timeline</a>
- Chandra, A., Katalifos, A., & Shikako, K. (2023, June 29 2023). Well-being of children with disabilities calls for rights-based policies. *Policy Options Health and Social Policy*. <a href="https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/june-2023/children-disabilities-human-rights/">https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/june-2023/children-disabilities-human-rights/</a>
- Chen, S.-Q., Chen, S.-D., Li, X.-K., & Ren, J. (2020). Mental Health of Parents of Special Needs
  Children in China during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *International Journal of*Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(24), 9519. <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/17/24/9519">https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/17/24/9519</a>
- Chowdhury, E. K., Khan, I. I., & Dhar, B. K. (2022). Catastrophic impact of Covid-19 on the global stock markets and economic activities. *Business and Society Review*, 127(2), 437-460. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/basr.12219">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/basr.12219</a>
- Coker, T. R., Rodriguez, M. A., & Flores, G. (2010). Family-centered care for US children with special health care needs: who gets it and why? *Pediatrics*, *125*(6), 1159-1167. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2009-1994">https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2009-1994</a>
- Corbett, B. A., Muscatello, R. A., Klemencic, M. E., & Schwartzman, J. M. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 on stress, anxiety, and coping in youth with and without autism and their parents. *Autism Research*, *14*(7), 1496-1511. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2521
- Craig, F., Operto, F. F., De Giacomo, A., Margari, L., Frolli, A., Conson, M., Ivagnes, S., Monaco, M., & Margari, F. (2016). Parenting stress among parents of children with Neurodevelopmental Disorders. *Psychiatry Research*, 242, 121-129. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.05.016
- Crnic, K. A., Neece, C. L., McIntyre, L. L., Blacher, J., & Baker, B. L. (2017). Intellectual Disability and Developmental Risk: Promoting Intervention to Improve Child and Family Well-Being. *Child Development*, 88(2), 436-445. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12740
- Cucinotta, D., & Vanelli, M. (2020). WHO Declares COVID-19 a Pandemic. *Acta Biomed*, 91(1), 157-160. https://doi.org/10.23750/abm.v91i1.9397

- Currie, G., Finlay, B., Seth, A., Roth, C., Elsabbagh, M., Hudon, A., Hunt, M., Jodoin, S., Lach, L., Lencucha, R., Nicholas, D. B., Shakako, K., & Zwicker, J. (2022). Mental health challenges during COVID-19: perspectives from parents with children with neurodevelopmental disabilities. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 17(1), 2136090. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2022.2136090">https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2022.2136090</a>
- Currie, G., Materula, D., Gall, N., Lachuk, G., Richard, C., Yohemas, M., Dewan, T., Gibbard, W. B., & Zwicker, J. (2023). Care coordination of children with neurodevelopmental disabilities and medical complexity during the COVID-19 pandemic: Caregiver experiences. *Child Care Health Dev.* https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.13149
- Cyr, A., Mondal, P., & Hansen, G. (2021). An Inconsistent Canadian Provincial and Territorial Response During the Early COVID-19 Pandemic [Perspective]. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.708903">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.708903</a>
- Deater-Deckard, K. (1998). Parenting stress and child adjustment: Some old hypotheses and new questions. *Clinical psychology: Science and practice*, *5*(3), 314.
- Decerf, B., Ferreira, F. H. G., Mahler, D. G., & Sterck, O. (2021). Lives and livelihoods:

  Estimates of the global mortality and poverty effects of the Covid-19 pandemic. *World Development*, *146*, 105561.

  <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2021.105561">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2021.105561</a>
- Delardas, O., Kechagias, K. S., Pontikos, P. N., & Giannos, P. (2022). Socio-Economic Impacts and Challenges of the Coronavirus Pandemic (COVID-19): An Updated Review. Sustainability, 14(15), 9699. <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/14/15/9699">https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/14/15/9699</a>
- Ducy, E. M., & Stough, L. M. (2021). Psychological effects of the 2017 California wildfires on children and youth with disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 114, 103981. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2021.103981
- Dunn, S., & Zwicker, J. (2018). Policy Brief–Why is uptake of the Disability Tax Credit low in Canada? Exploring possible barriers to access. *Exploring Possible Barriers to Access* (January 11, 2018). The School of Public Policy Publications.
- Elsabbagh, M. (2020). Linking risk factors and outcomes in autism spectrum disorder: is there evidence for resilience? *BMJ*, *368*, 16880. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.16880">https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.16880</a>
- Filipe, A. M., Bogossian, A., Zulla, R., Nicholas, D., & Lach, L. M. (2021). Developing a Canadian framework for social determinants of health and well-being among children

- with neurodisabilities and their families: an ecosocial perspective. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 43(26), 3856-3867. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2020.1754926
- Finlay, B., Dunn, S., & Zwicker, J. D. (2020). Navigating Government Disability Programs across Canada. *Canadian Public Policy*, 46(4), 474-491.
- Frier, A., Barnett, F., Devine, S., & Barker, R. (2018). Understanding disability and the 'social determinants of health': how does disability affect peoples' social determinants of health? Disability and Rehabilitation, 40(5), 538-547.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2016.1258090">https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2016.1258090</a>
- Gallagher, S., & Wetherell, M. A. (2020). Risk of Depression in Family Caregivers: Unintended Consequence of COVID-19. *medRxiv*, 2020.2006.2015.20131532. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.06.15.20131532
- Gonzalez, M., Yusuf, A., Steiman, M., Wright, N., Karpur, A., Shih, A., Shikako-Thomas, K., & Elsabbagh, M. (2021). The Global Report on Developmental Delays, Disorders and Disabilities-Canada. Report submitted to the Steering Group for the UNICEF and World Health Organization Global report on developmental delays, disorders and disabilities.
- Gonzalez, M., Zeidan, J., Lai, J., Yusuf, A., Wright, N., Steiman, M., Karpur, A., Shih, A., Elsabbagh, M., & Shikako, K. (2022). Socio-demographic disparities in receipt of clinical health care services during the COVID-19 pandemic for Canadian children with disability. *BMC Health Services Research*, 22(1), 1434. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-022-08672-1">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-022-08672-1</a>
- Gonzalez, M. Y., A.; Steiman, M.; Wright, N.; Karpur, A.; Shih, A.; Shikako-Thomas, K.; Elsabbagh, M. (2021). *The Global Report on Developmental Delays, Disorders and Disabilities-Canada*.
- Gosh, K., Chowdhury, S., Acharjee, D. C., Mamun, A.-A., & Ghosh, R. (2022). Assessing the Economic Impacts of COVID-19 on the Aquaculture and Fisheries Sectors in Relation to Food Security: A Critical Review. *Sustainability*, *14*(14), 8766. https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/14/14/8766
- Government of Alberta. Family Support for Children with Disabilities (FSCD). Retrieved 1

  January 2023 from <a href="https://www.alberta.ca/fscd.aspx">https://www.alberta.ca/fscd.aspx</a>
- Government of New Brunswick. Family Supports for Children with Disabilities. Retrieved 1

  January 2023 from

- https://www2.gnb.ca/content/gnb/en/services/services\_renderer.10195.Family\_Supports\_for Children with Disabilities .html
- Government of Ontario. *Children with Special Needs*. Retrieved 1 January 2023 from <a href="https://www.ontario.ca/page/children-special-needs">https://www.ontario.ca/page/children-special-needs</a>
- Gruskin, S., Bogecho, D., & Ferguson, L. (2010). 'Rights-based approaches' to health policies and programs: Articulations, ambiguities, and assessment. *Journal of public health policy*, *31*, 129-145.
- Holly, L. E., Fenley, A. R., Kritikos, T. K., Merson, R. A., Abidin, R. R., & Langer, D. A. (2019). Evidence-Base Update for Parenting Stress Measures in Clinical Samples. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 48(5), 685-705. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2019.1639515
- Holmes, A. G. D. (2020). Researcher Positionality--A Consideration of Its Influence and Place in Qualitative Research--A New Researcher Guide. *Shanlax International Journal of Education*, 8(4), 1-10.
- Jacobs, L., Anderson, M., Rohr, R., & Perry, T. (2021). The Annotated Accessible Canada Act-Complete Text.
- Labarda, C. E., Jopson, Q. D. Q., Hui, V. K.-Y., & Chan, C. S. (2020). Long-term displacement associated with health and stress among survivors of Typhoon Haiyan. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, *12*, 765-773. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000573">https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000573</a>
- Lindsay, S., & Ahmed, H. (2021). School and Employment-Related Barriers for Youth and Young Adults with and without a Disability during the COVID-19 Pandemic in the Greater Toronto Area. *Adolescents*, *1*(4), 442-460. <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/2673-7051/1/4/34">https://www.mdpi.com/2673-7051/1/4/34</a>
- Martin, C. A., Papadopoulos, N., Chellew, T., Rinehart, N. J., & Sciberras, E. (2019).

  Associations between parenting stress, parent mental health and child sleep problems for children with ADHD and ASD: Systematic review. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 93, 103463. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2019.103463">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2019.103463</a>
- Masi, A., Mendoza Diaz, A., Tully, L., Azim, S. I., Woolfenden, S., Efron, D., & Eapen, V. (2021). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the well-being of children with

- neurodevelopmental disabilities and their parents. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 57(5), 631-636. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jpc.15285
- Mathew, N. E., Burton, K. L. O., Schierbeek, A., Črnčec, R., Walter, A., & Eapen, V. (2019). Parenting preschoolers with autism: Socioeconomic influences on wellbeing and sense of competence. *World J Psychiatry*, *9*(2), 30-46. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5498/wjp.v9.i2.30">https://doi.org/10.5498/wjp.v9.i2.30</a>
- Mendoza, M. E., Brewer, T. F., Smith, M. S., Stein, M. A., & Heymann, S. J. (2022). Lessons from United States school district policies and approaches to special education during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 1-20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2022.2056643">https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2022.2056643</a>
- Merrick, H., Driver, H., Main, C., Kenny, R. P. W., Richmond, C., Allard, A., Bola, K., Morris, C., Parr, J. R., Pearson, F., Pennington, L., & Team, t. R. S. (2023). Impacts of health care service changes implemented due to COVID-19 on children and young people with long-term disability: A mapping review. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 65(7), 885-899. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.15503
- Morelli, M., Cattelino, E., Baiocco, R., Trumello, C., Babore, A., Candelori, C., & Chirumbolo,
  A. (2020). Parents and Children During the COVID-19 Lockdown: The Influence of
  Parenting Distress and Parenting Self-Efficacy on Children's Emotional Well-Being
  [Original Research]. Frontiers in Psychology, 11.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.584645
- Morris, S. P., Fawcett, G., Brisebois, L., & Hughes, J. (2018). A demographic, employment and income profile of Canadians with disabilities aged 15 years and over, 2017. In: Statistics Canada= Statistque Canada.
- Msemburi, W., Karlinsky, A., Knutson, V., Aleshin-Guendel, S., Chatterji, S., & Wakefield, J. (2023). The WHO estimates of excess mortality associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nature*, 613(7942), 130-137. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05522-2">https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05522-2</a>
- Mumbardó-Adam, C., Barnet-López, S., & Balboni, G. (2021). How have youth with Autism Spectrum Disorder managed quarantine derived from COVID-19 pandemic? An approach to families perspectives. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *110*, 103860. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2021.103860">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2021.103860</a>
- Onyeaka, H., Anumudu, C. K., Al-Sharify, Z. T., Egele-Godswill, E., & Mbaegbu, P. (2021). COVID-19 pandemic: A review of the global lockdown and its far-reaching effects.

- Science Progress, 104(2), 00368504211019854. https://doi.org/10.1177/00368504211019854
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2020). *Combatting COVID-19's*effect on children. <a href="https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/combatting-covid-19-s-effect-on-children-2e1f3b2f/">https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/combatting-covid-19-s-effect-on-children-2e1f3b2f/</a>
- Pankewicz, A., Davis, R. K., Kim, J., Antonelli, R., Rosenberg, H., Berhane, Z., & Turchi, R. M. (2020). Children With Special Needs: Social Determinants of Health and Care Coordination. *Clinical Pediatrics*, *59*(13), 1161-1168. https://doi.org/10.1177/0009922820941206
- Parish, S., Magaña, S., Rose, R., Timberlake, M., & Swaine, J. G. (2012). Health care of Latino children with autism and other developmental disabilities: quality of provider interaction mediates utilization. *Am J Intellect Dev Disabil*, 117(4), 304-315. https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-117.4.304
- An Act respecting a federal framework on autism spectrum disorder, (2023). https://www.parl.ca/DocumentViewer/en/44-1/bill/S-203/royal-assent
- Peek, L., & Stough, L. M. (2010). Children With Disabilities in the Context of Disaster: A Social Vulnerability Perspective. *Child Development*, 81(4), 1260-1270. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01466.x
- Reich, J. A. (2021). Power, Positionality, and the Ethic of Care in Qualitative Research.

  Qualitative Sociology, 44(4), 575-581. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-021-09500-4
- Ronoh, S., Gaillard, J. C., & Marlowe, J. (2015). Children with Disabilities and Disaster Risk Reduction: A Review. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Science*, 6(1), 38-48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13753-015-0042-9
- Rothwell, D. W., Gariépy, G., Elgar, F. J., & Lach, L. M. (2019). Trajectories of poverty and economic hardship among American families supporting a child with a neurodisability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 63(10), 1273-1284. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12666
- Rutter, M. (2006). Implications of Resilience Concepts for Scientific Understanding. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1094(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1376.002

- Samji, H., Wu, J., Ladak, A., Vossen, C., Stewart, E., Dove, N., Long, D., & Snell, G. (2022). Review: Mental health impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on children and youth a systematic review. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, *27*(2), 173-189. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/camh.12501
- Seth, A., Edwards, M., Milaney, K., & Zwicker, J. (2022). How governments could best engage community organizations to co-design covid-19 pandemic policies for persons with disabilities. *The School of Public Policy Publications, SPP Research Paper*.
- Shikako, K., Lencucha, R., Hunt, M., Jodoin-Pilon, S., Chandra, A., Katalifos, A., Gonzalez, M., Yamaguchi, S., Cardoso, R., Elsabbagh, M., Hudon, A., Martens, R., Cogburn, D., Seth, A., Currie, G., Roth, C., Finlay, B., & Zwicker, J. (2023). Children with Disabilities in Canada during the COVID-19 Pandemic: An Analysis of COVID-19 Policies through a Disability Rights Lens. *Children*, 10(6), 942. https://www.mdpi.com/2227-9067/10/6/942
- Shikako-Thomas, K., & Shevell, M. (2018). Promoting the Human Rights of Children With Neurologic Conditions. *Seminars in Pediatric Neurology*, 27, 53-61. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spen.2018.03.007
- Spain, D., Mason, D., J Capp, S., Stoppelbein, L., W White, S., & Happé, F. (2021). "This may be a really good opportunity to make the world a more autism friendly place":
  Professionals' perspectives on the effects of COVID-19 on autistic individuals. Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders, 83, 101747.
  <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2021.101747">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2021.101747</a>
- Staff, S. (2020). Today's coronavirus news: Parts of Ontario now in Stage 3 report slow start to reopening; province takes over another LTC home; masks will be mandatory on GO Transit. *Toronto Star*. <a href="https://www.thestar.com/news/canada/today-s-coronavirus-news-parts-of-ontario-now-in-stage-3-report-slow-start-to/article\_1bc94ff2-0351-5bb3-8987-421f9879aee6.html?">https://www.thestar.com/news/canada/today-s-coronavirus-news-parts-of-ontario-now-in-stage-3-report-slow-start-to/article\_1bc94ff2-0351-5bb3-8987-421f9879aee6.html?</a>
- Stough, L. M., Ducy, E. M., & Kang, D. (2017). Addressing the Needs of Children With Disabilities Experiencing Disaster or Terrorism. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 19(4), 24. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-017-0776-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-017-0776-8</a>
- Taggart, L., Mulhall, P., Kelly, R., Trip, H., Sullivan, B., & Wallén, E. F. (2022). Preventing, mitigating, and managing future pandemics for people with an intellectual and developmental disability Learnings from COVID-19: A scoping review. *Journal of*

- Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities, 19(1), 4-34. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jppi.12408
- UN Sustainable Development Group. (2020). *Policy Brief: The impact of COVID-19 on children*. <a href="https://unsdg.un.org/sites/default/files/2020-04/160420">https://unsdg.un.org/sites/default/files/2020-04/160420</a> Covid Children Policy Brief.pdf
- UNICEF. Children with disabilities in emergencies.

  <a href="https://www.unicef.org/disabilities/emergencies">https://www.unicef.org/disabilities/emergencies</a>
- United Nations. (2022). *Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD)*. United Nations. <a href="https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities.html">https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities.html</a>
- Vohra, R., Madhavan, S., Sambamoorthi, U., & St Peter, C. (2014). Access to services, quality of care, and family impact for children with autism, other developmental disabilities, and other mental health conditions. *Autism*, *18*(7), 815-826. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361313512902
- Wæraas, A. (2022). Thematic analysis: Making values emerge from texts. In *Researching Values: Methodological Approaches for Understanding Values Work in Organisations and Leadership* (pp. 153-170). Springer International Publishing Cham.
- Washington Group on Disability Statistics. <a href="https://www.washingtongroup-disability.com/">https://www.washingtongroup-disability.com/</a>
- Wisner, B., Gaillard, J.-C., & Kelman, I. (2012). Framing disaster: Theories and stories seeking to understand hazards, vulnerability and risk. In *The Routledge handbook of hazards and disaster risk reduction* (pp. 18-33). Routledge.
- Wolbring, G. (2011). People with disabilities and social determinants of health discourses. *Can J Public Health*, 102(4), 317-319. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03404058
- World Health Organization. (2008). Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health. World Health Organization.
- Yusuf, A., Wright, N., Steiman, M., Gonzalez, M., Karpur, A., Shih, A., Shikako, K., & Elsabbagh, M. (2022). Factors associated with resilience among children and youths with disability during the COVID-19 pandemic. *PLOS ONE*, *17*(7), e0271229.
- Zamora, I., Harley, E. K., Green, S. A., Smith, K., & Kipke, M. D. (2014). How Sex of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders and Access to Treatment Services Relates to Parental

Stress. *Autism Research and Treatment*, *2014*, 721418. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/721418

Zhang, S., Hao, Y., Feng, Y., & Lee, N. Y. (2022). COVID-19 Pandemic Impacts on Children with Developmental Disabilities: Service Disruption, Transition to Telehealth, and Child Wellbeing. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(6), 3259. https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/19/6/3259